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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


P.O. Box 115512


Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	DERRICK F. TAYLOR, 

                                             Employee, 

                                                 Applicant

                                                   v. 

ASSETS INC; BOYS & GIRLS 

CLUBS OF GREATER ANCHORAGE;

ALTERNATIVES COMMUNITY

MENTAL HEALTH,

                                              Employers,

                                                   and 

COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INS. CO;

ACE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INS CO;

ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO,

                                              Insurers,

                                                Defendants.

	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	INTERLOCUTORY

DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 200512941M, 200506253,

199905547, 199616903

AWCB Decision No.  09-0062     

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

On March 31, 2009


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard Employee’s Petition for joinder and for a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME) or AS 23.30.110(g) evaluation on February 25, 2009 in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Steven Constantino represented Employee.  Attorney Colby Smith represented Employer Assets, Inc. and its insurer AIG/Northern Adjusters (Assets).  Attorney Robert McLaughlin represented Employer Alternatives Community Mental Health Center and Alaska National Insurance Co., its insurer (Alternatives).  Attorney Robert Bredesen represented Employer Boys & Girls Clubs of Greater Anchorage and its insurer ACE USA (Clubs).  We closed the record at the hearing’s conclusion on February 25, 2009.

ISSUES
1) Shall we join Employee's 1996 back injury claim while employed with Clubs, and his 1999 back injury claim while employed with Alternatives, with his pending claims against Assets, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.040(d)?

2) Shall we order an SIME pursuant to AS 23.30.095(k) or a medical evaluation pursuant to AS 23.30.110(g)?


EVIDENCE SUMMARY 

On July 24, 1996, while employed with Clubs as an Instructor, Employee bruised his back while assisting in a three-on-three basketball tournament when a player elbowed him in the lower left side of his lower back.
  According to medical records in the Board's file 199616903, Employee treated with J. Chapnik, D.C., on or about August 15, 1996.  The records from this visit are scant, but Dr. Chapnik found decreased range of motion in the lumbar area and diagnosed “subluxation complex.”
  This Board file contains no additional information until after Employee's 1999 injury with Alternatives.

On March 24, 1999, while employed with Alternatives as a Youth and Family Counselor, Employee injured his lower back on the right and left sides working on clients’ goals at the Muldoon Recreation Center in a group activity, again playing basketball.
  In an attachment to his injury report, Employee stated while playing basketball with his group, he felt a sharp pain shoot through his lower back.  His lower back muscles “locked up” and he found it difficult to walk.  Employee treated with an ice pack but his pain grew more intense so he sat on the floor and, after icing for 45 minutes, was not able to “stand or walk.”  Staff members called paramedics who transported Employee to Alaska Regional Hospital Emergency Room for evaluation.
  According to medical records in the Board's file 199905547, the emergency room recommended additional ice packs and bed rest for three days.  The remainder of this report is largely illegible.
  Employee returned to Dr. Chapnik, who on March 25, 1999, released him to work effective March 29, 1999.
  Employee treated with Dr. Chapnik on several occasions, according to Physician’s Reports in the Board's file.  However, the file contains no chart notes concerning Dr. Chapnik’s specific treatments.  Beginning September 1999, the Board received additional medical records in this file from Matthew Huettl, D.C., reflecting the same Board case number but a different date of injury -- September 8, 1999.

In March 2005, while employed as a Project Supervisor for Assets, Employee was cleaning a courtroom when he knelt down and bent over to check his work.  While bent over, Employee reportedly felt a “pop” in his right knee and his right leg began to feel numb.  He reported a “right leg and lower back” injury on April 26, 2005.
  Eventually, the parties used March 15, 2005 for the administrative date of injury.  The earliest medical record in the Board's 200506253 file is a “follow-up” report on May 5, 2005, from Richard Taylor M.D., for “back pain and paresthesias.”  Employee reported his foot was feeling better; he still had some numbness in his right knee and toe, no pain in his legs, but had some low back pain.  He continued to limp and his right leg felt “weak” with walking.  He requested referral to an orthopedic specialist for consultation regarding his “disk disease.”  Dr. Taylor found Employee’s back examination “unremarkable” and Employee had a “negative straight leg raising test.”  Dr. Taylor assessed “degenerative disk disease with radiculopathy and/or a peripheral neuropathy” and recommended continued physical therapy and an orthopedic surgeon consult.
  

Employee saw Edward Voke, M.D., on May 19, 2005.  Dr. Voke noted Employee was bending and twisting on the job and felt pain in the lumbar spine.  Employee reported missing approximately five days from work and performing “light duty” work since then.  He reported no pain in his legs, but had numbness involving his right leg from the knee to the foot and some numbness in the left foot on the lateral aspect.  Employee had been attending physical therapy twice a week to “some avail.”  Prolonged sitting, walking, and standing aggravated his symptoms; he was taking no pain medication.  On examination, Dr. Voke found “negative straight leg raising bilaterally” and good range of motion in both hips.  There were no gross neurologic deficits in the lower extremities and Employee had “adequate” lumbar range of motion.  Dr. Voke reviewed a March 26, 2005 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) scan for the lumbar spine and felt this showed a herniated disk central and to the left at L5-S1 with desiccation.  Dr. Voke’s diagnoses included a herniated nucleus pulposus L5-S1 on the left, and degenerative disk disease L5-S1.

Employee continued seeing Dr. Taylor for several months thereafter, and received conservative care.  Eventually, on July 6, 2005, Dr. Taylor considered Employee might be a “surgical candidate.”
  

On August 19, 2005, Employee reported another injury with Assets.  Employee reported he had to “restrain a client” during work and reinjured his lower back on the left and right sides.
  Employee saw Dr. Voke on August 25, 2005, and said he reinjured his back on the job while “wrestling with a disabled client.”  He reported constant pain in the right lower extremity to the knee and intermittent pain in the lower extremity to the foot.  The right leg was worse than the left.  Dr. Voke recommended continued physical therapy and a new MRI.
  Employee underwent a lumbosacral MRI on August 29, 2005.  John McCormick, M.D. compared the films to the prior study done March 26, 2005.  Dr. McCormick's impression was a protrusion slightly to the left of midline at 
L5-S1.  He felt the protrusion was “smaller” than it was previously and now caused only “mild mass effect” on the left S-1 nerve root at the recess.  He found no new abnormalities.

On August 26, 2005, Employee participated in an Employer's Medical Evaluation (EME) with Thad Stanford, M.D.  Unfortunately, we found only the first page from this report in the Board’s files.

On September 7, 2005, Employee underwent a lower extremity Nerve Conduction Study (NCS).  Dr. Taylor interpreted the study as “abnormal”; it was consistent with a mild, right L5 radiculopathy.

Employee returned to Dr. Voke on September 15, 2005, complaining of continuing low back pain and burning and tingling in his right foot.  Dr. Voke referred Employee to James Eule, M.D.
  Employee saw Dr. Eule on October 11, 2005, and reported playing high school and college basketball and other sports and not having any significant back problems through that time.  He explained in his past he had a “minor back problem” and thought it was just a “spasm” that got better.  Employee stated in March 2005, he was working as a janitor supervisor in a courtroom bending over and looking under a bench when he felt a “pop” in what he thought was his right knee.   But when Employee's leg started “dragging,” he finally went to see his primary doctor who ordered an MRI and noted he had a herniated disk in his back.  Epidural injections helped somewhat but “did not last for long.”  He attended physical therapy a couple of times per week, which helped him progress “very slowly.”  His symptoms “waxed and waned.”  Employee felt he was getting better but in August 2005, had to “restrain” someone and “re-injured” and “aggravated” his back.  On 
Dr. Eule’s physical examination, Employee complained of buttock and lateral back pain mainly on the right side with a “little bit” on the left side.  Employee's reflexes were active in his lower extremities.  Dr. Eule reviewed Employee's x-rays and concluded he had “very degenerative disks” at the L5-S1 level.
  Dr. Eule referred Employee to Kenneth Pervier, M.D. for an evaluation.  

After his examination, Dr. Pervier determined Employee had a degree of “hyperreflexivity” in all four extremities.  According to Dr. Pervier, Employee's antalgic gait and low back pain would be consistent with his low back problems, but those would not explain his hyperreflexivity.  Dr. Pervier suggested a cervical and thoracic MRI.
 

On December 7, 2005, a cervical and thoracic MRI revealed an “extensive cord abnormality” extending from T1 through T6.  According to the radiologist, “differential diagnostic considerations” included “traumatic, inflammatory and neoplastic etiologies.”  The likelihood of neoplasm was deemed “somewhat low.”  “Post-traumatic” cord syrinx
 was also a consideration.
  A subsequent MRI revealed similar findings.

On February 14, 2006, Employee returned to Dr. Taylor for follow up.  Dr. Taylor noted a recent MRI showed a central canal “dilation” and possible “syrinx.”  Dr. Taylor suggested Employee might need a referral to a tertiary center for his spinal cord lesion.
  

On March 6, 2006, Employee saw Estrada Bernard, M.D., for evaluation.  Dr. Bernard reviewed the previous MRI studies.  He noted Employee had “spasticity” involving the lower extremities and some sensory level changes.  He recommended “CT myelopathy.”  Dr. Bernard also suggested surgical intervention if there were no unexpected findings seen on the CT myelogram.  Specifically, he suggested a thoracic hemilaminectomy.

A thoracic myelogram performed March 16, 2006, revealed “mild cord expansion” consistent with a thoracic cord syrinx.  There was mild, diffuse and degenerative thoracic disk disease without evidence of herniated disk or any neural impingement.
  Upon Employee's follow-up visit, 
Dr. Bernard recommended thoracic exploratory surgery.
  Dr. Taylor agreed with that recommendation on March 22, 2007, and assessed a “probable posttraumatic cord syrinx,” degenerative disk disease at L5-S1, with impingement and a herniated disk.

Employee continued to treat conservatively with Dr. Taylor through 2007.  He returned to see 
Dr. Eule on July 6, 2007, for reevaluation.  Dr. Eule explained Employee may have “some component of pain” from his herniated disk at the L5-S1 level.  He opined “a lot” of his leg symptoms and numbness were most likely related to his syrinx and the disk injury is really “a secondary issue” and not “that urgent.”  Dr. Eule also recommended surgical treatment for the syrinx.  Dr. Eule felt it was difficult to say whether or not this was a work-related injury.  He deferred to the neurosurgeons.  However, Dr. Eule said “theoretically” if Employee had an injury “in that area” this could be a “post-traumatic” syrinx or could be from “some other etiology.”

On August 16, 2007, Dr. Bernard performed a T4 through T6 laminotomy to address the syrinx.
 Employee underwent physical therapy and additional conservative care thereafter.  

Employee saw Dr. Eule again to follow up on his L5-S1 herniated disk.  Dr. Eule found Employee still had hyperreflexivity consistent with his previous spinal cord problems but not consistent with his disk herniation.  Dr. Eule reviewed the old MRI films and felt Employee had a small, broad-based disk bulge at the L5-S1 level that was “unlikely” to be causing his current symptoms.  He recommended a new lumbar MRI.
  A lumbar MRI taken October 31, 2007, showed a protrusion left of midline at the L5-S1 level with resultant posterior displacement of the left S-1 nerve root.
  Upon reviewing this, Dr. Eule suggested an epidural injection at the L5-S1 level, which could be “diagnostic” as well as “therapeutic.”  He hoped this might address Employee's left leg symptoms; it might also determine whether or not the disk “should be removed.”

On November 20, 2007, Dr. Bernard indicated Employee had reached the point of “maximum medical improvement.”  Employee had residual sensory changes that may be related to permanent changes from the syrinx and had residual hyperreflexivity resulting from the syrinx.  Dr. Bernard recommended a “functional capacity evaluation” to assess Employee for return to work.  He may require vocational rehabilitation for work not involving exertion, according to Dr. Bernard.

Employee subsequently came under Larry Levine, M.D.'s care, on Dr. Eule’s referral.  Dr. Levine provided epidural injections and general conservative care.  Employee, under Dr. Levine’s direction, underwent a Physical Capacity Evaluation with Alan Blizzard, PT, at Alaska Spine Institute.  Therapist Blizzard rated Employee's exertional strength level at “light to medium” capacity with the ability to lift 20 pounds occasionally and 10 pounds frequently.  He felt this did not allow Employee to meet the overall strength demands for a “teacher assistant” position at the Anchorage School District.  Consequently, therapist Blizzard opined Employee should not be released to full duty as a teaching assistant.

Dr. Levine also performed electrodiagnostic studies.  He found them “indeterminate.”  Dr. Levine found a reflex delay on the “left side.”  He thought “one could consider” incomplete S1 radiculopathy on the right, but the abnormalities appeared on the left.  Dr. Levine concluded: “I am unsure what to make of this information.”  He concluded Employee had an apparent disk protrusion at L5-S1 with an annular tear and some left-sided neural foraminal narrowing.  Dr. Levine felt most of the symptoms can be correlated to the residual thoracic syrinx, but “there could be a new issue” to explain his current presentation.  He suggested a provocative discography.  He did not think a repeat epidural would be beneficial because the previous effort did not help Employee.  Dr. Levine suggested putting Employee on medication Lyrica.

A repeat thoracic MRI showed a decrease slightly in the size of the previous abnormality within the thoracic cord.

On July 23, 2008, Dr. Bernard submitted a Physician's Report listing two dates of injury, both related to Employee's Assets employment.  Dr. Bernard diagnosed a thoracic syrinx from T1 to T6 and “syringomyelia.”  Dr. Bernard opined the condition was “work-related” and was an “on-the-job injury, lifting heavy equipment.”  Dr. Bernard stated in respect to an impairment rating, “will need independent rating by another provider.”

On September 3, 2008, Employee saw John Swanson M.D., for another EME.  Employee, according to Dr. Swanson's report, provided a history concerning his March 14, 2005 injury, the August 19, 2005 restraining incident, and his 1996 basketball injury.  Dr. Swanson reviewed medical records and imaging studies.  His impressions included: Pre-existing spondylosis in the lumbar spine consisting of arthritis in the facet joints and degenerative disk disease; a lumbar strain on March 15, 2005, which was stable; a lumbar strain on August 19, 2005, which was stable; idiopathic syringomyelia from T1 to T6, which was stable; “symptom magnification” with “probable secondary gain”; physical dependence and possible psychological addiction to narcotic pain medications; and pre-existing thoracic spondylosis consisting of arthritis in the facet joints and degenerative disk disease.

Dr. Swanson pointed to a positive Waddell rotation test, distraction test, superficial tenderness test, markedly exaggerated knee reflex response, inconsistent seated and supine straight leg raising test results, inconsistent hip flexion and forward lumbar spine flexion results, and Employee's refusal to attempt lumbar extension or right and left thoracic rotation, as evidence of “symptom magnification.”  Employer asked Dr. Swanson if either the March 15, 2005 or August 18, 2005 injuries were a substantial factor in “causing” any “condition” he diagnosed.  Dr. Swanson opined the March 15, 2005 and August 19, 2005 injuries were a substantial factor in producing “lumbar strains” on those occasions.  However, he continued, none of the other diagnoses he offered have the work injuries “on those two days as their etiology.”  Dr. Swanson maintained all the other conditions failed the “but for” and “reasonable physician” test to have the work activities on March 15, 2005 as “their substantial cause.”  Whether or not the March 15, 2005 injury was a substantial factor aggravating the pre-existing spondylosis in Employee's lumbar spine is “unknown” until 
Dr. Swanson could personally review the March 26, 2005 MRI films.  He offered to make an addendum to his report following film review.  Dr. Swanson opined if the scan demonstrated extruded or free disk fragments indicating a herniated disk, Employee “may” have had an aggravation of his pre-existing spondylosis because of the March 15, 2005 injury.
  

Nevertheless, Dr. Swanson opined “the medical probability is,” based upon the radiologist’s description, the findings at L5-S1 on the left were due to “disk protrusion” caused by pre-existing degenerative spondylosis in the lumbar spine.  Thus, he offered, the “medical probability” based on the lack of radiculopathy findings on the left, is Employee did not suffer a “pathological worsening of his underlying pre-existing spondylosis” on March 15, 2005 or August 19, 2005.  He found no indication Employee suffered a “pathological worsening of the underlying idiopathic syringomyelia” because of his work injuries.  Dr. Swanson averred Employee had typical syringomyelia symptoms in 2001.

Employee on September 3, 2008, reportedly told Dr. Swanson, when he was thrown against the door frame on August 19, 2005, he not only injured his low back but also his thoracic spine.  
Dr. Swanson determined this history differed from that set forth in the medical records.  However, he opined even if Employee did contuse his thoracic spine during the August 19, 2005 incident, there is no medical evidence he suffered a “pathological worsening of the pre-existing syringomyelia.”  Dr. Swanson noted the March 15, 2005 injury did not involve Employee's thoracic spine according to the records and the Employee.  Therefore, he concluded it was “physiologically impossible” that incident was a substantial factor in causing Employee's need for thoracic spine surgery.  According to Dr. Swanson, the records did not indicate the August 19, 2005 injury involved the thoracic spine, and even if Employee's history provided on September 3, 2008 was correct, Employee had clinical evidence of syringomyelia noted by Dr. Voke and Dr. Child in 2001.  Therefore, according to Dr. Swanson, the syringomyelia was a pre-existing condition not “pathologically worsened” by the August 19, 2005 incident.  Therefore, he concluded that work incident was not a substantial factor in Employee's need for thoracic surgery.

In respect to date of medical stability, Dr. Swanson felt Employee was medically stable from the March 15, 2005 injury by November 15, 2005, “at the latest,” but was probably stable by August 19, 2005, because he was back to work when reinjured at that time.  Dr. Swanson opined Employee was medically stable from the August 19, 2005 injury by April 19, 2006.
  He averred the March 15, 2005 and August 19, 2005 injuries did not cause any ratable permanent partial impairment (PPI).  However, in respect to the syringomyelia condition, Dr. Swanson opined Employee had a 37% whole-person PPI but this was “100% due to his pre-existing idiopathic syringomyelia” and is not due to either the March 15, 2005 or August 19, 2005 work-related injuries.
  He determined Employee did not have physical capacities to perform his prior job as Project Supervisor II.  Dr. Swanson limited Employee to light-duty work with no lifting over 20 pounds occasionally or 10 pounds repetitively.  But these current work restrictions stem from Employee's pre-existing conditions and are not related to the March 15, 2005 or August 19, 2005 work-related injuries, according to Dr. Swanson.
  Employee had no physical restrictions resulting from the March 15, 2005 or August 19, 2005 work related injuries.  Dr. Swanson opined Employee required no further evaluation or treatment for either injury; no surgical procedure was currently indicated even if Employee had a herniated disk at L5-S1 on the left.  Dr. Swanson opined any necessary medical care would address only pre-existing, non-work-related conditions.

Dr Swanson reviewed imaging studies at Employer's request on September 29, 2008.  Included in his review were the December 7, 2005 thoracic spine MRI, the December 7, 2005 cervical spine MRI, the January 20, 2006 thoracic spine MRI, and the August 7, 2007 thoracic spine MRI.  Dr. Swanson also reviewed the September 3, 2008 EME report.  Having reviewed the additional imaging studies, Dr. Swanson concluded:

A cervical MRI scan on 12/07/05 demonstrated long-standing pre-existing spondylosis of the cervical spine with arthritis of the uncovertebral and facet joints diffusely throughout the cervical spine.  Bone spurs such as those identified on the facet and uncovertebral joints and on the vertebral bodies require months if not years to develop and could not have been due to the work activities on 03/15/05 or 08/19/05.  Therefore, this was a pre-existing condition unrelated to those work injuries.  There is no indication of pathological worsening of the pre-existing thoracic spondylosis since there was no evidence of extruded or free disk fragments to indicate a herniated disk and there were no fractures of the vertebral bodies or facet joints to indicate pathological worsening.

Reviewing the MRIs of the cervical and thoracic spine from 12/07/05 demonstrates longstanding pre-existing syringomyelia in addition to longstanding pre-existing spondylosis of the cervical spine and thoracic spines.

Therefore, reviewing the additional imaging studies above adds one impression, #8, of pre-existing spondylosis of the cervical spine.  Otherwise, reviewing these imaging studies confirms the impressions and opinions expressed on 09/03/08.

Assets controverted Employee’s right to all benefits on October 21, 2008 and again on December 4, 2008, based upon Dr. Swanson’s EME reports.

On October 28, 2008, Dr. Levine responded to a questionnaire provided by Employee's attorney.  Dr. Levine also wrote a supplemental letter to explain his responses, stating as follows:

We are asked multiple questions in relation to overall situation.  This gentleman did have two separate work injuries on March 14, 2005, and August 19, 2005.

We were told by Derrick Taylor he had not had any back problems before.

If that is indeed the case, then we have little to offer in relation to further cause of his overall situation, and thus we would think it was related.

However, we have been given an independent medical exam, which were (sic) reviewed, previous notes.  Apparently, there were complaints of erectile dysfunction quite some time before, and this would certainly be related to the syrinx as one of the early signs that this may have been contributing to his situation.  In addition, there were apparently some intermittent complaints of some lumbar spine pain going back to about 1999.  Again, this may lead one to believe there are some preexisting issues.

I believe he probably had some fairly asymptomatic back issues that then were made worse by the injury as noted.

I think it would be best addressed by one of the neurosurgeons or someone who deals with the posttraumatic syrinx to comment whether they believe this is posttraumatic related to the particular mechanism of injury he describes or were (sic) preexisting and iatrogenic as the independent medical examiner opines.

Again, he notes to us that there are no other causes, and we have filled out the paperwork with his history given to us.  If there is additional information to be shown to us that would include your evidence of no prior injury or evidence of a prior injury, then certainly this would help us be more direct in our responses.

In his responses to Employee's attorney’s questionnaire, using the check-the-box method, 
Dr. Levine stated: Employee's lumbar spine had a large, annular tear left of midline L5-S1 and a small annular tear at L3-4.  He also had a left herniated disk at L5-S1.  On a more probable than not basis, Dr. Levine opined the March 14, 2005 bending and twisting incident “and/or” the August 19, 2005 incident in which Employee “struck his back on a door frame while restraining a violent patient” was a substantial factor in causing the “condition” diagnosed.  Dr. Levine noted Employee denied any history of lower back pain prior to March 14, 2005.  As for additional lumbar spine care, Dr. Levine opined discography was done recently and he referred Employee to Dr. Bernard for a “surgical consult.”  Dr. Levine felt Employee's lumbar spine medical care reasonable and expected to result in objective improvement in Employee's condition.  Dr. Levine indicated Employee's current symptoms and medical condition prevented him from returning to his job held at the time of his injury.  He predicted a ratable PPI as a result of the March 14, 2005 or August 19, 2005 incidents.  Dr. Levine opined the two Assets injuries may permanently prevent Employee from returning to the job he held at the time of injury.

In respect to the thoracic spine, Dr. Levine diagnosed post-surgery for a thoracic spine syrinx.  He deferred to the surgeon as to causation related to any “trauma” in this case.  However, Dr. Levine opined the March 14, 2005 and/or August 19, 2005 accidents aggravated, accelerated, or combined with any identifiable pre-existing condition to bring about the need for medical treatment and any disability.  Dr. Levine suggested continued “monitoring” by Dr. Bernard.  He felt the August 19, 2005 injury seemed to cause a thoracic spine “injury or pain” but deferred to Dr. Bernard on whether “trauma caused the syrinx.”  In Dr. Levine's opinion, the medical treatment he recommended reasonably was expected to result in objective improvement in Employee's thoracic condition and noted he was seeing some “small improvements” in his thoracic spine pain.  As he did in respect to the lumbar spine, Dr. Levine opined the thoracic symptoms and condition currently prevented Employee from returning to his job at the time of injury, may permanently prevent him from doing so, and would probably result in a ratable PPI.

Post-hearing, on March 1, 2009, Dr. Swanson responded to Employer Assets’ request for additional information.  Dr. Swanson clarified his previous reports did not intend to indicate either the 1996 Club injury or 1999 Alternatives injury were “the substantial factors” causing the syringomyelia or the pre-existing lumbar spondylosis.
  He indicated they were not.  He further opined the IDET procedure Dr. Levine recommended was not indicated and has “been abandoned by most physicians.”

EMPLOYEE'S DEPOSITION TESTIMONY:

Employee testified by deposition as follows: On March 15, 2005 he suffered his first injury with Assets.  He was cleaning a court room and doing a quality control check to make sure all areas were clean.  He knelt on one knee, bent over and was looking up under the benches.  When he got up, Employee heard and felt a “bop” in his right knee and felt a “rush” or “surge” of blood and felt light-headed.  He had to sit down on a nearby bench and gather himself for a few minutes.  He noticed tingling, numbness, and shooting pain on the “right side” of his body.
  Employee's pain symptoms were different from what he had ever felt before; there was a “popping” sensation in his right leg, an immediate “rushing sensation,” lightheadedness, numbness, tingling, and a “pinprick” sensation.  The sensations were felt in the right leg and some in the left foot as well.

Employee testified on August 19, 2005, he was dealing with an unruly, agitated client.  The male client punched his caseworker in the face twice; Employee then restrained the client who head-butted Employee who fell back into a doorpost while still restraining the client as he was “kind of slammed back into the doorpost” with his mid and lower back.  Later, Employee noticed a small cut across the mid back area.
  Following the second Assets injury, Employee immediately felt a sharp pain in his mid back, between the shoulder blade area, and tingling in that area.  Employee's legs and lower back area had more intense numbness and burning and he started having shooting pain on the right side again.  Employee began having tingling and numbness sensations in the forearms and hands; it became very difficult to write or grasp small objects.  He testified he never had these symptoms before.
  

THE PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS:

A) EMPLOYEE'S ARGUMENTS:

Employee argued this is a procedurally and “medically complex” case.  He averred the 1996 Clubs and 1999 Alternatives injuries were “minor.”   Employee maintained he experienced back pain but no radicular or myelopathic symptoms with those injuries.  Both, he averred, resolved after brief chiropractic care.  Employee says his back was asymptomatic until the March 15, 2005 Assets injury.  He argues he continued working until his syringomyelia surgery disabled him; he believes his current disability stems from a combination of residual myelopathic symptoms related to his thoracic syringomyelia, low back pain, and lower extremity numbness and pain from an L5-S1 herniated disk and large annular tear.

Based upon Assets’ denial of all liability for the thoracic syringomyelia surgery and the lumbar condition after April 19, 2006, and Assets’ controversion based upon Dr. Swanson's opinions concerning “pre-existing conditions,” Employee maintains he “reluctantly” seeks joinder of the 1996 and 1999 claims with the pending claims against Assets, and seeks a Board-ordered medical evaluation pursuant to AS 23.30.095(k) or AS 23.30.110(g).  Employee, as the basis for his SIME request, sites medical disputes between attending physician Dr. Taylor, who diagnosed a “probable posttraumatic cord syrinx,” and Dr. Swanson who states the syringomyelia is of “unknown,” or “idiopathic” etiology.
  He notes similar disputes regarding the low back issues.

Employee filed a claim in the March 15, 2005 and August 19, 2005 Assets cases on November 17, 2008; Employee also sought an SIME.
  He subsequently filed claims in the 1996 Clubs and 1999 Alternatives case on November 26, 2008, and filed petitions of even date requesting joinder and an SIME in each.
  Employee relies upon 8 AAC 45.040(d) as support for his joinder request.  Given the uncertain etiology of Employee's thoracic syrinx, and Dr. Swanson's conviction the lumbar condition was pre-existing and only temporarily aggravated by the Assets injuries, Employee argues there remains “a possibility” either the Clubs or Alternatives injuries were and remain “a substantial factor” in causing his need for lumbar treatment and disability.   He feels he cannot adequately protect his interests unless all prior back claims are joined in a single case.  Employee suggests substantial risks of inconsistent decisions, delay and due process violations exist.  

In response to Assets’ arguments at hearing, Employee maintains Dr. Swanson's EME report “points backwards,” thus bringing the 1996 and 1999 injuries directly at issue.  Employee alleges a doctor’s comment, “I don't know” what caused the syrinx to become symptomatic is not a sufficient basis to rebut the statutory presumption of compensability.  Lastly, Employee suggests if the cases are joined, the joined employers can make an “economic decision” based in part upon Employee’s current position supporting their defense, and decide how vigorously to pursue any necessary defense.  

B) CLUBS’ ARGUMENTS:

Clubs did not file a hearing brief.  However, at hearing Clubs argued the presumption of compensability set forth in AS 23.30.120 has not attached to the 1996 injury.  It alleges Employee's issues with Assets concern different body parts than what he injured working for Clubs.  Clubs agreed, however, this is a “medically complex” case.  Lastly, Clubs argues none of Employee's attending physicians have related his current symptoms to the 1996 Clubs injury.  Clubs does not oppose or join in the SIME request.  It does not agree a proper medical dispute exists in this case.

C) ALTERNATIVES’ ARGUMENTS:

Alternatives argues its 1999 injury was a “minor claim” which resulted in one day temporary total disability.  It argues no permanent impairment was ever attributed to the 1999 injury and the brief period of compensable treatment following the injury has “long resolved with no follow up care.”  Alternatives essentially agrees with Employee's account of the 1999 injury.  Consequently, Alternatives suggests it is unnecessary to join the 1999 claim in the instant proceedings against Assets to fully adjudicate Employee's rights under the Act.  Alternatives argues there is not “a scintilla of medical evidence” linking Employee's current symptoms and complaints to his 1999 injury; it too argues the presumption of compensability has not attached.  Accordingly, it argues joinder is “unwarranted and unnecessary.”  It cites the legislature's intent that benefits under the Act be delivered in a “swift and speedy” fashion, in a cost-effective way to employers.

In respect to the SIME request, Alternatives took no position essentially because there is no medical dispute between Employee's attending physician and an EME in the 1999 claim -- because there was no EME in that case.  In summary, Alternatives asks the Board to deny and dismiss the joinder request.

Post-hearing, Alternatives wrote Employee requesting he dismiss his claim against Alternatives based upon Dr. Swanson's clarification of his prior report, discussed supra.  Alternatives argued there was no longer any basis for which liability could be placed upon Alternatives in this matter.

D) ASSETS’ ARGUMENTS:

On the joinder issue, Assets conceded it filed a Notice of Intent to Rely with two injury reports from the 1996 and 1999 cases attached.  However, Assets averred this filing did not necessarily mean it intended to argue the two injury reports denoted “causation” for Employee's current symptoms.  It argued Dr. Swanson's “pre-existing” references may refer to “congenital conditions” not caused by some prior injury.  Assets also agreed with Employee this is a “medically complex” case.  Lastly, Assets said it asked Dr. Swanson to address the “causation issue” and was awaiting his report.

Concerning the SIME request, Assets does not oppose an SIME concerning the lumbar disk injury.  It disputes the basis for an SIME concerning the thoracic spine, citing the “idiopathic” definition accorded the syrinx, and medical records from Employee's attending physicians stating they cannot determine whether or not the syrinx was “traumatically caused.”


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. JOINDER:

AS 23.30.001 provides our basic guideline for interpreting and applying the Act and states:

It is the intent of the legislature that
(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

(2) workers' compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

(3) this chapter may not be construed by the courts in favor of a party;

(4) hearings in workers' compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

AS 23.30.005(h) requires our procedures are as simple and summary as possible and states:

The department shall adopt rules for all panels, . . .  and shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . .  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible. . . . 

AS 23.30.135(a) gives us broad discretion in conducting our hearings and states:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter. The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

Lastly, 8 AAC 45.040 addresses joinder and states in relevant part:

(d) Any person against whom a right to relief may exist should be joined as a party.

. . .


(f) Proceedings to join a person are begun by


(1) a party filing with the board a petition to join the person and serving a copy of the petition, in accordance with 8 AAC 45.060, on the person to be joined and the other parties; or


(2) the board or designee serving a notice to join on all parties and the person to be joined.

. . .


(h) If the person to be joined or a party


(1) objects to the joinder, an objection must be filed with the board and served on the parties and the person to be joined within 20 days after service of the petition or notice to join; or


(2) fails to timely object in accordance with this subsection, the right to object to the joinder is waived, and the person is joined without further board action.


(i) If a claim has not been filed against the person served with a petition or notice to join, the person may object to being joined based on a defense that would bar the employee's claim, if filed.


(j) In determining whether to join a person, the board or designee will consider


(1) whether a timely objection was filed in accordance with (h) of this section;


(2) whether the person's presence is necessary for complete relief and due process among the parties;


(3) whether the person's absence may affect the person's ability to protect an interest, or subject a party to a substantial risk of incurring inconsistent obligations;


(4) whether a claim was filed against the person by the employee; and


(5) if a claim was not filed as described in (4) of this subsection, whether a defense to a claim, if filed by the employee, would bar the claim.

Clubs and Alternatives both argue Employee has insufficient evidence to raise the §120 presumption of compensability, and cause it to attach to his claims against them.  Both Clubs and Alternatives imply Employee must have evidence to cause the §120 presumption of compensability to attach to his protective claims, or else his claims cannot be joined and must be dismissed.  However, neither Clubs nor Alternatives cite to any statute, regulation, or case law supporting that argument.  The Board has found none.  But we find Employee filed protective claims against Clubs and Alternatives, based upon Dr. Swanson's EME report, Assets’ controversions, and Assets filing injury reports from the 1996 and 1999 work-related injuries in the Assets claims.  The Board in Johnson v. Honest Bingo,
 found:

Based on our review, we find at least some evidence, sufficient to raise a presumption of compensability, against each of the insurers.  We find any of these insurers could potentially be liable for benefits to the employee under the last injurious exposure rule.  Under 8 AAC 45.040(d) & (f) we conclude we must join the employee’s claims against Republic and Specialty to her claim against A.I.G., making them all parties to this case (emphasis added). 

In Johnson, the Board decided it “must” join other insurers to a pending claim when evidence raised and attached the §120 presumption against each successive insurer.  However, we find Johnson does not stand for the opposite proposition -- that is, it does not say the Board must not join other employers if the §120 presumption does not attach.

We find Employee’s claims must eventually be analyzed under the last injurious exposure rule adopted in Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling.
  The rule applies when employment with successive employers may contribute to an employee's disability.
  This rule, combined with the presumption of compensability afforded by AS 23.30.120(a), "imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability."
  In Peek v. SKW/Clinton,
 the Court stated: 

[T]wo determinations . . . must be made under this rule:  “(1) whether employment with the subsequent employer ‘aggravated, accelerated, or combined with’ a pre-existing condition; and, if so, (2) whether the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a ‘legal cause’ of the disability, i.e., ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the harm’” (quoting Saling).

An “aggravation, acceleration or combination” is a substantial factor in the disability if it is shown that (1) "but for" the subsequent employment the disability would not have occurred, and (2) the subsequent employment was so important in bringing about the disability that a reasonable person would regard it as “a cause” and attach responsibility to it.
  The Court expressly adopted the "but for" test in a last injurious exposure rule context in Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler.
  "The question of whether the employment aggravated or accelerated a pre-existing disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the Board and it is not the function of the court to reweigh the evidence or choose between competing inferences."
  "As we pointed out in Saling, under the ‘last injurious exposure’ rule, an employee need not show that employment with the last employer was the legal cause of disability, only a legal cause of the disability" (emphasis in original).
 

The Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a “presumption of compensability” for Employee’s injuries.  AS 23.30.120(a) states in part:  “In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . .”  The presumption attaches to a claim for compensation if Employee makes a minimal, threshold showing of a preliminary link between his employment and his disability.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held “the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.”
   We normally use a three step analysis to apply the §120 presumption in an appropriate case:

First, to make a prima facie case pursuant to §120, an employee must ordinarily present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it.  A substantial aggravation of an otherwise non-work-related condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  “[I]n claims ‘based on highly technical medical considerations,’ medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.”
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  

Second, if we find the §120 presumption attached to a claim, an employer must rebut the §120 presumption of Employee’s entitlement to benefits by “substantial evidence.”
  “Substantial evidence” is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.
  There are two methods through which an Employer in an appropriate case may overcome the §120 presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing Employee’s requested medical care is not work-related, not reasonable, not necessary, or not within the realm of medically acceptable options to treat the work-related symptoms, or in the case of disability showing he is not disabled because of his injury; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities Employee’s need for medical treatment or his disability is work related.
  Merely showing another cause for medical treatment or disability does not, in itself, rebut the §120 presumption of compensability against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  “Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself.”
  We do not weigh the evidence at this stage.

Third, once an employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence, the §120 presumption drops out, and an employee must prove all elements of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.
  “Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  

But in this case, the Board is aware of no legal requirement in a joinder proceeding for us to apply the §120 presumption of compensability against either party sought to be joined.  Our regulation 
8 AAC 45.040 gives specific considerations when joining parties to claims.  The Board is not deciding the case on its merits.  It is simply deciding whether or not to join additional employers so the case can be decided on its merits in accordance with the legislature's intent.  Therefore, we find it unnecessary to apply the presumption analysis to Employee's protective claims against Clubs and Alternatives.  When the case comes before us on its merits, we will apply the above-referenced presumption of compensability analysis to each and every employer.

Alternately, were we to apply the §120 presumption analysis to this case, we would find sufficient evidence exists to raise the §120 presumption as to the low back, which we find, unlike the syrinx, is not a medically complex issue.  We would find Employee injured his lower back in 1996, when employed by Clubs, when he was elbowed in the back while paying basketball.
   We would find he injured his back sufficient in 1999, when employed by Alternatives, to require him to ice it for 45 minutes and then take an ambulance to the emergency room because he had difficulty walking.
  We would find these events may have set in motion the low back “conditions,” which may or may not have been aggravated, accelerated and combined with by the two 2005 Assets injuries.  On that basis, we would find the §120 presumption was raised, attached, and the requirement a claim for relief “may” exist against Clubs and Alternatives was satisfied.  Because we are not deciding the case on its merits at this time, we would not apply the last two parts of the presumption analysis.

We conclude Employee’s Petitions to join Clubs and Alternatives in the claims pending against Assets are granted pursuant to AS 23.30.135 and 8 AAC 45.040(d) & (j).  The master case number shall be 200512941M.
  Though we do not rule upon the merits of Employee's claim against any employer, or the validity of any defenses by any party, we find pursuant to 8 AAC 45.040(d), Clubs and Alternatives are arguably “persons” against whom a right relief “may” exist in respect to the lumbar issues.  We find medical evidence arguably raises the presumption of compensability in 
AS 23.30.120 against Clubs and Alternatives in respect to the lumbar issues.  We find 
Dr. Swanson’s original and clarification EME reports did not rule out either or both the prior injuries as possible substantial factors under the “aggravation, acceleration, and combining with” analysis.  In other words, we are not concerned in a joinder proceeding whether the 1996 or 1999 injuries “caused” the syrinx, the herniated disk, the annular tear, or the spondylosis.  We find 
Dr. Swanson’s clarification EME report states they did not.  We find the issue eventually before us on the merits is not whether any of the injuries in this case “caused” the syrinx, the herniated disk, the annular tear, or the spondylosis, but rather whether one of the injuries was “a substantial factor” aggravating, accelerating or combining with these allegedly preexisting conditions and causing Employee’s symptoms which required medical care and created resultant disability.
  We further find Assets has not abandoned any right to argue one or both of those prior injuries may be responsible for Employee’s current situation.  Lastly, we find Assets does not oppose an SIME at least in respect to the lumbar spine issues.

We considered all 8 AAC 45.040(j)’s requirements and the parties’ arguments.  We conclude it is not necessary for us to determine the answer to each of the five requirements under 
8 AAC 45.040(j) before joining a party.  We placed greater emphasis on 8 AAC 45.040(j)(2-4).  We find Clubs’ and Alternatives’ presence in this case necessary for complete relief and due process among the parties, because medical evidence shows the possibility Employee has a right to relief against them.
  We find going forward with a hearing against Assets only may result in inconsistent Board decisions and a resultant violation of one or more parties’ rights.  We find going forward without Clubs’ and Alternatives’ presence may affect a party’s right to protect its interest; specifically, Employee’s claim may be unduly delayed if evidence arises in a claim against Assets only, which suggests one or more potentially liable parties are missing from the table.
  We find Employee feels strongly his Clubs and Alternatives employment did not cause his need for medical care beginning in 2005, following his Assets injuries or thereafter, or any disability.
  We find Employee filed claims against Clubs and Alternatives, and consequently, we conclude we need not determine whether a defense to Employee’s claims against Clubs and Alternatives would “bar” the claims.
  

We conclude the legislature intended we interpret the Act to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to employers subject to the Act’s provisions.  The law requires us to decide cases on their merits and to not construe the law in favor of any party.  Lastly, our hearings must be impartial, fair, and must afford all parties due process.
  We further find our process and procedure “shall be as summary and simple” as possible.
  We find our hearings are not bound by common or statutory law or by technical or formal rules of procedure.  We may make our investigation and conduct our hearings in a manner by which we may best ascertain the parties’ rights.
  Lastly, we find joining Clubs and Alternatives is the fairest, quickest, most efficient way to protect all parties’ rights in this case.
  We conclude Clubs and Alternatives may raise any and all defenses under the law to Employee’s claims including a “last injurious exposure” defense.  We find administrative economy requires us to hear all parties’ defenses together, in light of Employee's claims against Assets.  We agree with Employee that Clubs’ and Alternatives’ participation may be minimal, especially since Employee, Clubs, and Alternatives all appear to agree employment injuries with Clubs and Alternatives are not “a substantial factor” in Employee’s current symptom matrix.  Consequently, we conclude Clubs’ and Alternatives’ financial costs to defend against Employee’s protective claims will be “reasonable” under this case’s unique facts.

II. SIME OR §110(g) EVALUATION:

AS 23.30.095(k) provides in pertinent part:

In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation, medical stability, ability to enter a reemployment plan, degree of impairment, functional capacity, the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment, or compensability between the Employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board. . . .

AS 23.30.110(g) states in pertinent part:

An injured Employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician which the board may require.  The place or places shall be reasonably convenient for the Employee. . . . Proceedings shall be suspended and no compensation may be payable for a period during which the Employee refuses to submit to examination.

AS 23.30.155(h) provides in part:

The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case . . . where right to compensation is controverted . . . make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

Our regulation at 8 AAC 45.092(g) provides in relevant part:
If there exists a medical dispute under in AS 23.30.095(k), . . . (3) the board will, in its discretion, order an evaluation under AS 23.30.095(k) even if no party timely requested an evaluation under (2) of this subsection if 

. . .

(B) the board on its own motion determines an evaluation is necessary.

When deciding whether to order a SIME, the Board in its discretion typically considers the following general criteria:

A. Is there a medical dispute between Employee’s physician and Employer’s independent medical evaluator?

B. Is the dispute significant?

C. Will a SIME physician’s opinion assist the Board in resolving the disputes?

We have consistently found, and we again find, §095(k) is procedural and not substantive for the reasons outlined in Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage.
  We find we have wide discretion pursuant to §095(k) to consider any evidence available when deciding whether to order an SIME to assist us investigating and deciding medical issues in contested claims pursuant to §135(a).  In most cases, to justify ordering an SIME under §095(k) the medical dispute must be “significant.”  Lau v. Caterair International,
 Toskey v. Trailer Craft,
 Brosnan v. Peak Oilfield Service.
  
The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (“AWCAC”) in Bah v. Trident Seafoods Corp.,
 addressed our authority to order an SIME under §095(k) and §110(g).  With regard to §095(k), the AWCAC referred to its decision in Smith v. Anchorage School District, in which it said:

[t]he statute clearly conditions the Employee's right to an SIME . . . upon the existence of a medical dispute between the physicians for the Employee and the employer.

The AWCAC further noted in dicta that before ordering an SIME, we have historically found the medical dispute is significant or relevant to a pending claim or petition, and the SIME would assist us in resolving the dispute.
  Under either §095(k) or §110(g), the AWCAC noted in dicta the purpose of ordering an SIME is to assist the Board; it is not intended to give Employee an additional medical opinion at Employer’s expense when Employee disagrees with her own physician’s opinion.
  We find §095(k) gives us broad discretion to order an SIME when we find a relevant medical dispute.
  With these principles in mind, we review the SIME issue:

A. ARE THERE MEDICAL DISPUTES?

First, we find there are medical disputes in this case.  We find Dr. Levine opined the August 19, 2005 injury aggravated or accelerated Employee's lower back pain.
  We find Dr. Levine stated Employee probably had some fairly asymptomatic back issues that may have been made worse by the Assets injury.
  We further find Dr. Levine concluded the L5-S1 disk is causing some of Employee's difficulties.  We find Dr. Levine predicted at least 1% PPI related to either the March 14, 2005 or August 19, 2005 Assets injuries.
  We find Dr. Levine predicted the Assets injuries may permanently preclude Employee from returning to the job he held at the time of his injury.
  We find Dr. Levine opined Employee is totally disabled from work pending a surgical consult.
  We find therapist Blizzard opined Employee's Physical Capacities Evaluation showed he cannot return to his previous job as a Project Supervisor because of strength limitations.
  We find Dr. Taylor opined Employee suffered a probable posttraumatic cord syrinx and degenerative disk disease at L5-S1 with impingement and disk herniation.
  We find Dr. Eule concluded if Employee had an injury in his thoracic area, he could have a posttraumatic syrinx or it could be of some other etiology.
 

By contrast, we find EME Dr. Swanson said the March 15, 2005 and August 19, 2005 Assets injuries were a substantial factor in producing only lumbar strains, and all other conditions he diagnosed fail the “but for” and “reasonable physician” tests.
  We further find Dr. Swanson opined the MRI findings result from disk desiccation caused by pre-existing degenerative spondylosis in the lumbar spine.
  We find he opined if Employee suffered a contusion in his thoracic spine during the August 19, 2005 incident, there is no evidence this incident caused a pathological worsening in the underlying condition.
  We find Dr. Swanson believes Employee requires no further evaluation or treatment for his March 15, 2005 or August 19, 2005 injuries.  We find Dr. Swanson believes the Assets injuries did not cause any PPI rating.  We further find Dr. Swanson believes Employee's inability to return to his previous employment is not because of his March 15, 2005 or August 19, 2005 work-related injuries with Assets.
  We find Dr. Swanson believes Employee is medically stable in respect to his Assets injuries.  Lastly, we find Dr. Swanson believes the 1996 and 1999 injuries were not “the substantial factors” causing the syrinx or lumbar spondylosis, and disagrees with Dr. Levine's recent recommendations for additional medical care to address the lumbar spine issues.
  Consequently, we conclude evidence in the record shows clear medical disputes.
  

B. ARE THE DISPUTES SIGNIFICANT OR RELEVANT?

Second, we find the medical disputes in this case are both “significant” and “relevant.”  We find the issues concerning Employee's low back are relatively straightforward, and not medically complex.  However, we find issues concerning the syrinx are medically complex and subject to widely divergent opinions.  We find, were we to rely upon Employee's attending physicians, he may be entitled to additional, and significant benefits pursuant to the Act for either the lumbar or thoracic spine issues.  By contrast, we find if we were to rely upon Dr. Swanson's opinions, Employee may not be entitled to any additional benefits under the Act in respect to either issue.  Consequently, we conclude the medical disputes in this case are both relevant and significant.

C. WILL AN SIME OR §110(g) EVALUATION ASSIST THE BOARD IN RESOLVING THIS CLAIM ON ITS MERITS?

We find an SIME or §110(g) evaluation will likely provide expert clarification of these issues, and be a great benefit to us when we decide this case on its merits, especially in respect to the syrinx issue.  We find an SIME will assist us in resolving Employee’s claims because the parties and the Board’s Designee can ask appropriate and varied questions to help ferret out the medical facts bearing upon Employee’s claims.  Consequently, we conclude we shall order an SIME, pursuant to AS 23.30.095(k).
An SIME must be performed by physicians on our list, unless we find the physicians on our list are not impartial.
  Employee requested a neurosurgeon, physiatrist or orthopedic surgeon, and a neurologist with expertise in drug addiction for the SIME.
  We find a “panel” approach including a medical doctor with a specialty as a neurosurgeon, orthopedic surgery, and neurology with expertise in drug addiction is best suited to perform this SIME because we find the medical issues numerous and varied.  If a physician selected by the Board’s Designee believes a referral to a physician with some other specialty is warranted, he or she may make that referral and our Designee will make appropriate arrangements.  If one physician can serve as both neurosurgeon and neurologist, the Board's Designee may utilize that physician.

We direct the Board’s Designee to promptly schedule an SIME within 30 days of this decision's date and to select dates for the parties to submit medical records and suggested questions.
  We direct our Board Designee to include as issues for the SIME: Causation, “the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment,” degree of impairment, functional capacity, and medical stability.   The parties may agree to other SIME issues to save time and expense, and our Designee may, in his or her discretion, find other issues to add to the evaluation as set forth in §095(k).  Because the medical disputes exist between Employee's attending physicians and Assets’ EME, Dr. Swanson, and because Assets had no objection to the SIME at least as it pertained to the lumbar issues, the SIME examination and medical report costs shall be paid by employer Assets.
  We will retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes that may arise over these matters.

ORDER
1) Employee's petition to join claims against Clubs and Alternatives to pending claims against Assets is granted.

2) Employee shall attend an SIME with a panel of medical doctors including a specialty of neurosurgery, orthopedic surgery, and neurology with expertise in drug addiction from our list in conformance with this decision, pursuant to AS 23.30.095(k) and AS 23.30.110(g).  If one physician can serve as both neurosurgeon and neurologist, the Board's Designee may utilize that physician.  The Board’s Designee shall use discretion to select the SIME physicians and shall advise the selected physicians that he or she may refer Employee to another listed SIME physician of a different specialty if necessary.

3) An SIME shall be conducted regarding causation, “the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment,” degree of impairment, functional capacity, and medical stability, and any other issues identified by our Designee, or those to which the parties may otherwise agree.  

4) We direct our Designee, with the parties’ assistance, to prepare the medical record for the SIME physicians, in accord with 8 AAC 45.092(h), and to schedule the SIME within 30 days of this decision’s date.  

5) We reserve jurisdiction over any disputes.  

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on March 31, 2009.
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